








































 
17.0 2nd Bull Run 
Exclusive Rules 
 
17.1 THREE-SIDED COMBAT UNITS 

Any unit with Attack Strength of 5 
or more has three Steps, representing an 
increased ability to withstand 
punishment due to more men in the unit.  
The only exception to the rule of 5­attack 
strength is the Confederate Armistead’s 
Brigade that has four Steps due to the 
exceptional size of that particular unit. 

 
17.2 COMBAT PHASE MARKERS 

Neither the Union nor the 
Confederate Combat Phase Markers are 
placed into the Phase Marker cup during 
the Phase Marker Cup Segment of Game 
Turn #1. Both are placed in the cup 
during the Phase Marker Cup Segment of 
game Turn #2 and all following turns. 
(Note: Confederate Movement Phase 
Markers are not available Game Turn #1; 
they arrive on Game Turn #2.) 

 
17.3 THE UNFINISHED RAILROAD LINE 

The unfinished Independent Line of 
the Manassas Gap Railroad functions like 
a normal Railroad Line for all game 

purposes. Note, however, that there is no 
Bridge or Ford where the unfinished RR 
crosses Bull Run (hexes 2806­2906). 
 
17.4 SPECIAL MOVEMENT RULES 
In 2nd Bull Run, both of the 

Confederate Wings have three Movement 
Phase Markers while all five of the Union 
Corps as well as Stuart’s Cavalry Division 
have two Movement Phase Markers. 
Contrary to the normal Movement rules, 
some or all of the units in each 
Formation can move when each of their 
Phase Markers is drawn. 
Staggered Movement of Formations  
Each of the Confederate Wings is made 

up of from three to five divisions plus 
several independent units; e.g. 
Longstreet’s Right Wing consists of 
Anderson’s, D. R. Jones’s, Hood’s, 
Kemper’s, and Wilcox’s Divisions, plus 
the independent units (denoted by their 
formation color numbers printed in 
white) of the two units of Evan’s Brigade 
and two reserve independent artillery 
units of S. D. Lee and Washington; e.g. 
Jackson’s Left Wing consists of A.P. Hill’s, 
Lawton’s, and Starke’s Divisions, plus the 
three reserve independent artillery units 
of 1st Virginia, Huckstep, and Sumpter 
marked Reserve A, B, and C respectively. 
Each of the five Union Corps is made 

up of two to three divisions, plus in the 
case of Sigel’s I Corps and McDowell’s III 
Corps several independent units denoted 
by their formation color numbers 
printed in white; e.g., Sigel’s I Corps 
consists of Schenck’s and Schurz’ 
Divisions, and the independent units of 
Buell’s Reserve A artillery, Koltes’ 

 21



 22

Reserve B infantry, two units of 
Beardsley’s Cavalry Brigade, and two 
units of Milroy’s Brigade. 
Stuart’s Cavalry Division consists of 

the two independent brigades of F. Lee 
and Robertson as well as the independent 
unit of Pelham’s Horse Artillery.  
The first and second time that one of 

the Confederate Wing’s Movement Phase 
Markers is drawn during an Operations 
Segment, all of its component units can 
move (if not already moved), but all of 
the units of at least one of its divisions 
must move per chit draw. The same 
requirement applies to Union Corps’ 
Movement Phase Markers except it only 
applies to the first drawing of a 
particular Corps’ Phase Marker during 
the Operations Segment.  When the final 
Movement Phase Marker is drawn, 
movement is conducted by all of the units 
that didn’t move when the first (and for a 
Confederate Wing first and second) 
Movement Phase Markers were pulled.  
Units can only move once per turn.
Exception: See Bonus Movement below. 
Movement is conducted by divisions. If 

any of a division’s units move when a 
first Phase Marker is drawn, then all of 
the division’s units are assumed to have 
moved (and none can move when the 
second Phase Marker is drawn). The 
same would apply to the third Phase 
Marker if applicable. Any of the 
formation’s independent units can move 
when any of its Phase Markers is drawn; 
they don’t all have to move on the same 
one with the exception of any 
independent units that consist of two 
units  – the two units of the same 

independent brigade have to move on 
the same Phase Marker; e.g. Milroy’s 
Brigade and Milroy’s 12th Ohio Artillery 
have to move on the same Movement 
Phase Marker. 
To keep track of which units have 

moved, rotate the playing piece of each 
unit that has moved 90 degrees after it 
has finished moving, or in VASSAL play, 
right click and mark the entire formation 
as Movement Complete For the Turn. 
To reiterate, units can only conduct 

movement once per turn except for 
Bonus Movement below. 

Bonus Movement 
When the final Movement Phase 

Marker for each Formation is drawn 
during a turn, if all units of a particular 
division (or individual independent units 
or all component parts of an independent 
brigade) begin six or more hexes away 
(five intervening hexes) from all enemy 
units, and if during proposed movement 
will maintain a six or more hex distance 
away from all enemy units and will end 
their move six or more hexes away from 
enemy units, they are free to conduct 
such movement even if previously 
completed movement for the turn. This 
Bonus Movement is only allowed the 
final time a Movement Phase Marker is 
drawn for each particular Formation 
(Wing, Corps, Stuart’s Division). No unit 
of a particular division (or component 
parts of independent units) can come 
within five or less of an enemy unit 
during the Bonus Movement or the 
Bonus Movement is not allowed. 
Bonus Movement, if implemented, 

effectively allows moving twice per turn: 
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Once normally during the first time (and 
in the case of Confederate Wing’s first or 
second time) a Movement Phase Marker 
is drawn, and then units may conduct a 
Bonus Movement (maintaining 
throughout the proper distance) only 
when the final Movement Phase Marker 
is drawn.  Of course, units may move 
their one normal movement during their 
final Movement Phase Marker if not 
previously moved. 
 
17.5 CAVALRY REACTION MOVEMENT 
(Updated November 29, 2011) 
During the Operations Segment before 

the next Phase Marker is drawn from the 
Phase Marker Cup (even the first one of 
the turn), players may declare Cavalry 
Reaction Movement.  Cavalry Reaction 
Movement allows a cavalry brigade or 
Pelham’s Horse Artillery unit that has not 
had any of its Formation’s Movement 
Phase Markers drawn from the cup in the 
current turn to initiate movement as if its 
Formation’s Movement Phase Marker 
had just been drawn.  Cavalry Reaction 
Movement is identical to regular 
movement except units may NOT enter 
enemy ZOC; entering an enemy Zone of 
Control is not allowed. Mark the cavalry 
brigade or Pelham’s Horse Artillery unit 
as Movement Complete For the Turn 
once their reaction movement is 
completed. 
Note that once a Movement Phase 

Marker is drawn for a particular 
Formation during the Operations 
Segment, a cavalry brigade or horse 
artillery unit belonging to that Formation 
is no longer capable of declaring Cavalry 
Reaction Movement. 

In the possible event both players 
declare Cavalry Reaction Movement 
before the drawing of the next marker 
from the cup, units are moved in the 
following order: (It does not matter who 
declared Cavalry Reaction Movement 
first.)  Pelham’s Horse Artillery always 
moves first. Then if opposing cavalry 
brigades, both players declare which 
cavalry brigades will move and each roll 
a die with the winner going to the higher 
die roll; ties going to the Confederate 
player. The winner determines if his side 
or his opponent will move his reacting 
cavalry first. 
If only one player declared Cavalry 

Reaction Movement, the opposing player 
is free to declare Cavalry Reaction 
Movement once the first Cavalry 
Reaction Movement is complete. This 
response allows the movement of cavalry 
brigades only; Pelham’s Horse Artillery is 
not allowed to move in response to 
enemy Cavalry Reaction Movement. 
Theoretically players could alternate 
back and forth until there are no more 
cavalry brigades capable of reacting.  
(Note that earlier Cavalry Reaction 

Movement rules mentioned proximity to 
enemy units as a prerequisite for 
declaring Cavalry Reaction Movement. 
Nearness to enemy units is no longer a 
requirement.  Note also earlier rules 
indicated only “not yet moved” as a 
requirement for Cavalry Reaction 
Movement – an important addition to the 
latest rules is that only units that have 
not had any of their Formation’s 
Movement Phase Markers drawn from 
the cup that turn are eligible. Disregard 
earlier editions of this rule.)   



 
17.6 VICTORY CONDITIONS 

The object of the game is for the 
Union player to gain control of the seven 
Objective Hexes ( ) printed on the map.  
Three are Confederate­controlled at the 
beginning of the game, three are Union­
controlled, while one is uncontrolled at 
game start. 

Stoney Ridge  2707 
Unfinished Railroad 2610 
The Dump  2312 
Groveton                             2416 
Henry Hill (southwest)  3315 
Henry Hill (northeast)  3513 
Stone Bridge  3912 
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First Day Victory Determination 
At the end of Game Turn #15, 

determine if either player has won the 
game, and the extent of his victory. If 
neither player has won, play proceeds to 
Game Turn #16 and continues into the 
second day. 
 

Level of Victory 
Objective Hexes 

Controlled by the 
Union Player 

Confederate Decisive 0 or 1 
Confederate Substantial 2 
Confederate Marginal 3 
No Victory, Play Continues 4 
Union Marginal 5 
Union Substantial 6 
Union Decisive 7 

 

 
Second Day Victory Determination 
At the end of Game Turn #28, 

determine which player has won the 
game, and the extent of his victory. 
 

Level of Victory Objective Hexes 
Controlled by the 

Union Player 
Confederate Decisive* 0 
Confederate Substantial 1 
Confederate Marginal 2 
Draw 3 
Union Marginal 4 
Union Substantial 5 
Union Decisive 6 or 7 
*Historical Result 

 



(Optional Rule) 
6.2 COMBAT RESOLUTION 
PROCEDURE 
2a. Defense Option & Immediate 
Enemy Attack 
 As a third option during a friendly 
combat phase, the friendly (attacking) 
player may choose the Defense Option. 
(This is in addition to attacking normally 
or conducting an Automatic Retreat). The 
friendly player upon drawing his Combat 
Phase Marker decides on a hex­by­hex 
basis if his units in enemy ZOC declare 
Defense and mark the stack with a 
Defense Marker. All units in the hex are 
considered in Defense. 

Units in Defense are exempt from 
the normal combat rules and do not 
participate in the current friendly 
attacks. They cannot attack or bombard 
and are not effected by enemy Zones­of­
Control and are incapable of conducting 
an Automatic Retreat.  
  Once all Automatic Retreats and 
friendly attacks are resolved, the enemy 
player can (before drawing the next 
Phase Marker from the Phase Marker 
Cup) conduct Immediate Enemy Attacks 
against any and all units marked with a 
Defense Marker. Note any enemy units 
that were attacked normally (whether 
effected or not) in the current Combat 
Phase may not conduct an Immediate 
Enemy Attack. The only exception is that 
an enemy unit suffering an ineffectual 
Bombardment only attack (one that 
inflicts no casualty or retreat) is allowed 
to participate in an Immediate Enemy 
Attack.  Enemy units that were the target 

of an Automatic Retreat but did not 
advance may participate in an Immediate 
Enemy Attack; enemy units that 
advanced after an Automatic Retreat are 
ineligible.  

The enemy player decides on a 
unit­by­unit basis whether his units will 
conduct an Immediate Enemy Attack 
against a hex marked with a Defense 
Marker. This special attack is completely 
voluntary and not required.  If enemy 
units are conducting an Immediate 
Enemy Attack, all units marked with a 
Defense Marker exerting a ZOC into the 
enemy’s hex must be attacked. Ignore the 
ZOC of any units NOT marked with a 
Defense Marker; they cannot be attacked 
and do not effect combat in any way. 

Eligible enemy artillery units that 
are not in the ZOC of friendly units are 
also available to conduct an Immediate 
Enemy Attack, either by conducting a 
Bombardment only or a Combined Attack 
against a hex marked with a Defense 
Marker. 

The Automatic Retreat Option is 
not available to enemy units during an 
Immediate Enemy Attack.  

Remove all Defense Markers at the 
conclusion of the current Combat Phase. 
 







Questions and Answers and Errata 
 
Clarifications that arose from Avaloncon '93 ed by  (Answer
Kevin Boylan ‐ A5A Developer) 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
Q: In Bull Run the Army of the Potomac (Red Rebels) begins the game with units 
on the board; however, their activation chit indicates that it not used until turn 
2. Which rule takes precedence? Can they move on turn 1 or turn 2? 
A: The CSA Army of the Potomac is not supposed to move on turn 1 (though this 
aw s mistakenly left out of the Exclusive Rules). 

 
Q: Retreat Priorities: What is the intent of this rule? Do you try and fulfill as 
many of the priorities as possible which normally means you have no choice in 
where a unit retreats? Do you stop after you fulfill one of the priorities or if you 
fill priority #2? If the case is that you need to fulfill priority #4 (which is further 
away from the greatest number of enemy units), how do you do it? Do you look 
at only enemy units in the local area or enemy units anywhere on the board? 
How does this all work with the example in the sample game on page 14 (Game 
tur  n 4 ‐ Rebel Combat) where you state specifically that the retreat violates
priority #4? 
A: The intent of the Retreat Priorities is that you fulfill as many of them as 
possible in the order that they are listed (meaning that you ignore #4 if it would 
cause you to violate #1‐3, or ignore #3 if it would make you violate #1‐2, etc.) 
You never ignore a priority unless applying a higher priority makes it impossible 
to apply the lower one. When applying priority #4 determine the greatest 
umber of enemy units according to those that are within a normal 4 hex Line of 
igh
n
S t (see 7.1) of the retreating unit. 
 
Q: The only other area of question was the automatic retreat rule and how to 
interpret it. I am enclosing some specific examples for you to comment on.  In 
addition, I would like to verify with you that the easier way I explain the rule is 
correct. I state that if you automatically retreat from an attack, all other friendly 
units in the attacked ENEMY unit's ZOC must auto retreat as well. Is this an 
accurate way of looking at it? 
A: The reason why the Auto Retreat rule says that all units in the ZOC of a given 
enemy unit must retreat is that otherwise a player could Auto Retreat those of 
his units that were adjacent only to strong enemy stacks, while using unit that 
were adjacent to both a strong and a weak enemy stack to attack the latter. 



 
Example 1: The Union unit U1 has a zero AF and Union unit U2 does not exist.  
What happens? If there are no Union units adjacent to U1, then it automatically 
dies. But if U2 were located as shown, U1 could auto retreat thru U2 (rolling 
morale to see if it lost a step, of course). Note: you can auto retreat units 
equentially. Thus if U1 and U2 both auto retreat, U1 could retreat thru U2 as 

ating), U2 would retreat itself. 
s
described above, then (after U1 finished retre

es an empty hex) ** ** ** 
 
* * ** ** ** (** denot

 
* * ** C1 ** ** ** ** 

 ** U2 **
 ** ** ** 

* * ** U1 **
 * ** C2 ***
* * ** ** ** 

 or has to auto retreat. What 
 
xample 2: U3 does not exist. U2 wants toE
happens to U1? Must U2 stay and attack? 

y hex) ** ** ** ** 
 

 an empt
3 U2 ** 

** ** ** (** denotes
 * C1 U1 C2 ** ** U*
* * ** ** ** ** ** ** 
 
The situation that you describe is unusual, insofar as all units cannot auto retreat 
(assuming no other Union units were in the area ‐ if U3 was present as shown, 
U1 could retreat). In a situation such as above (U3 is NOT present) if U2 auto 
retreated, then U1 would surrender (eliminated) automatically, and this would 
ount as engaging both of the CSA units in combat. Obviously, if any chance of a c
better results exists, attack instead of auto retreating. 

t example of breaking the auto retreat 
 
xample 3: Is this a correcE
requirement down a line? 

* ** C1 C2 C3 C4 ** 
 
* ** ** ** ** (** denotes an empty hex) ** ** ** ** **
* * U1 U2 U3 U4 U5 ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** 

reats. U2 & U3 attack C2 and auto retreat. U4 
 
1 attacks C1 and auto ret

 C4. 
U
attacks C3. U5 attacks
 
A: Yes, this is all legit. 
  
Pea Ridge map clarifications ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
* * Hexes 3813 and 3703 are considered clear. 
* * Leetown, although it looks like a town and has "town" in the name, is 



NOT considered a town hex. It is clear. 
===================================================================== 
Bentonville Map Clarification 
* * The tree line which cuts across the 0909/0910 hexside does not block LOS. 

 is Blocking terrain is only complete hex terrain, and hex 0909 is clear while 0910
swamp. 
===================================================================== 
Question Box from Issue 30­5 of the General. The answers which are 
iven in the General are wrong. The questions and the correct answers are given g
below. 
 
6.2 Can a unit adjacent to four enemy units in two enemy hexes attack all but one 
f the units, then automatically retreat before combat, allowing the last unit to o
be attacked overwhelmingly by other friendly units? A. NO 
  
4.2 Is the following move legal: A confederate infantry starts in 3419 and moves 
to 3519 (1 MP), then to 3618 (1 MP), then to 3718 (2 MPs)? A. Yes. 

nt 
.) 

(The General answer is incorrect because A5A does not consider that moveme
costs have to be the same no matter which direction you cross between hexes

============== =======================================================

ntarily retreat?  
September, 1996 Addition  
: In 6.3.4, can the attacker advance after volu
: Yes, as long as the defenders hex is vacant. 

Q
A
 
 
Q: If 2 units that are stacked together attack into separate hexes and one auto‐
retreats, does the other one have to retreat too? What if they are in separate 
hexes, but in the same ZOC of that enemy unit which was auto‐retreated against? 
A: Yes to both. If one unit auto‐retreats from an enemy unit all other friendly 
nits in the ZOC of that enemy unit must auto‐retreat unless a Bombardment u
attack (at 1:4 or greater odds) is made against that enemy unit. 
 
===================================================================== 

September, 1997 Addition  
Q: Is it possible for several units placed in more than one hex to attack two or 
more enemy units placed in different hexes in single attack?  
A: Yes, but only in a combined attack where one attacking hex is in the enemy 
OC and the other attacking units are bombarding artillery units. Otherwise, 
ach battle must involve either one defending hex OR one attacking hex. 
Z
e
 
 



Q: If yes, does EVERY attacker's unit must be adjacent to ALL defe
: No, the bombarding artillery units do not have to be adjacent. 

nding units?  
A
 
 
Q: An attack involves one attacking hex and two adjacent defending hexes.  The 

hexside. attacker is separated from one of the defending hexes by stream/creek 
Does the column shift for hexside terrain apply?  
: Yes because the attacker must across the stream to attack one of the 
efending unit hexes. 
A
d
 

ACROSS 5
======

 APRILS: Q&A/ERRATA (unoff
====================================== 

icial) ­ 3 May 96 
=======
BASIC RULES 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
ection 6.2 Combat Resolution Procedure, Step #5, should say "...a Bombardment S
Attack (see 7.2)" (not 6.8). 
 
Q: Regarding Bombardment Line of Sight: if the LOS runs directly along a 

nnected hill hexes, and the hexside itself is not a 
ll blocked? 

hexside between two un‐co
locking hexside, is LOS sti
: Yes, LOS is still blocked. 

b
A
 
 
Q: Regarding 6.3 Applying Combat Results: results are applied to the defender 
first, but are Steps 1 through 4 all applied to the defender and then the 4 Steps 

, all applied to the attacker, or is Step 1 applied to the defender then the attacker
then Step 2 applied to the defender then the attacker, and so on? 
A: Your second choice is correct.  First, Apply Step Losses to the defender, then 
o the attacker.  Next, Conduct Mandatory Retreats for the defender, then for the 
ttacker, and so on.  See the Comprehensive Example of Play. 
t
a
 
 
Q: In cases where the Final Combat Odds would have been less than 
1‐4 due to column shifts, does the attacker get to roll the die? (No bombardment 
is involved here.)  In 6.2, Step #6, it says: "If terrain shifts would cause the [final] 
dds ratio to be reduced to less than 1‐to‐4, the attacking player does not roll a o
die".  Yet in 6.2, Step #4, it says "column shifts...below 1‐to‐4 are ignored". 
 
A: The attacker does not roll the die.  The rules should have said "column shifts 
below 1‐to‐4 are ignored, except that the attacker does not get to roll the die.  
See Step #6, Exception."  And the Comprehensive Example of Play, Game Turn 
#4, Step #4, should have said "combat odds of less than 1‐to‐4 are always 



resolved on the Defender's Combat Results Table only, on the 1‐ to‐4 column." 
not "on the Combat Results Tables.").  Column shifts below 1‐4 are not ignored 
ompletely. 
(
c
 
 
: The rules say the defenders can advance after the attackers conduct an Q

automatic retreat.  Can the defenders advance if they destroy the attackers? 
 
A: No.  The second bullet under the section "Restrictions on Advance" of rules 
.6 Advance, states that a defender cannot advance as a result of combat, except 
f the "attacker" was conducting an automatic retreat. 
6
i
 
 
Q: Regarding terrain modifiers, what if the defender is on a road hex where the 
road does NOT lead to the attacker?  The rules seem to imply that there would 
be no terrain modifier, because they are on a road.  But if the attackers don't 
ave that same road to "charge down", so to speak, it seems like they would have h
to use the terrain modifier for the type of terrain. 
 
A: Whether the defender is on a road or not doesn't matter.  The Terrain Effects 
Chart, under Column Shifts, shows the effect of terrain on combat, and a road 
auses no column shifts.  The real terrain in the hex applies.  The footnote 

ovement costs. 
c
"Negates the cost of..." only applies to m
 
COMPREHENSIVE EXAMPLE OF PLAY 

ie Rolls, should say 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
ame Turn #3, Step #5, Combat Resolution DG
"...on the 1‐to‐1 odds column..." (not 3‐to‐1). 
 
Q: In Game Turn #4, there is an example where an infantry plus a 
bombarding artillery are attacking an infantry.  The attacking 
infantry chooses an Automatic Retreat, but in hopes of preventing 
the defender from advancing into the vacated hex, the artillery 

ge is 
t 

bombards the defender as part of the same combat.  No dama
inflicted on the defender, who then advances.  If the bombardmen
ad caused a step loss to the defender, but he had passed his 

ex? 
h
Morale Check, could he have then advanced into the vacated h

e Check, yes.  Of course, if he had 
 
A: If he had passed his Moral
failed and had to retreat, no. 
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